## **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter know, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Yena Woo

March 23, 2023

Hijacking the Plasminogen Activator System for Possible Therapeutic Potential for

Neurovascular and Neurodegenerative Diseases

by

Yena Woo

Dr. Yoland Smith

Adviser

Chemistry

Dr. Yoland Smith

Adviser

Dr. Antonio Brathwaite

Committee Member

Dr. Vincent Conticello

Committee Member

Hijacking the Plasminogen Activator System for Possible Therapeutic Potential for

Neurovascular and Neurodegenerative Diseases

By

Yena Woo

Dr. Yoland Smith

Adviser

An abstract of

a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences

of Emory University in partial fulfillment

of the requirements of the degree of

Bachelor of Science with Honors

Chemistry

2023

#### Abstract

# Hijacking the Plasminogen Activator System for Possible Therapeutic Potential for Neurovascular and Neurodegenerative Diseases

#### By Yena Woo

With the earlier onset of neurovascular and neurodegenerative diseases along with the increasing worldwide life expectancy, the need for therapeutics continues to grow<sup>1</sup>. In the last two decades, however, the hyperfixation on certain biomarkers and uni-modal treatments continues to abrogate the development of our understanding of these diseases. Aware of this need, this research aims to explore an ischemic stroke system, the Plasminogen Activator System (PAS), and enumerate the contributions to the developments regarding the possible therapeutic potential of this system. Here, the main activators and inhibitors of the PAS are investigated in relation to the astrocytic and neuronal components of the neurovascular unit (NVU). The data presented shows the role of urokinase-plasminogen activator (uPA) in astrocytic wound healing via astrocytic activation, in absence of an injury or pathological state, of the Wingless (WNT) pathway. Additionally, tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA) is able to contribute not only to astrocytic activation but also to the modulation of cerebral ischemia via the inducement of aquaporin-4 (AQP4) in the astrocytic end feet. Finally, Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) is shown to increase the morphological complexity of neurons. The demonstrated role of the PAS in astrocytic activation and neuron arborization in this study highlights the future potential of hijacking the PAS in therapeutic target development for neurovascular and neurodegenerative diseases.

# Hijacking the Plasminogen Activator System for Possible Therapeutic Potential for Neurovascular and Neurodegenerative Diseases

By

Yena Woo

Dr. Yoland Smith

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors

Chemistry

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank everyone who helped and supported me through this not-so-straightforward journey of navigating this honors thesis.

Thank you, Dr. Smith for serving as my PI in transition. Although I may have not known you for long, I am so very appreciative for all the support and guidance you have given me throughout this process.

Thank you, Dr. Brathwaite, for being an amazing mentor both in and outside the classroom, for giving me not only research advice, but life advice, and for grounding me throughout trials and tribulations. Thank you for advocating for me and helping me navigate all the unforeseen circumstances of this honors thesis.

Thank you, Dr. Conticello, for also advocating for me and helping me navigate this honors thesis. Thank you for your time and support through the years leading up to this honors thesis. I do not believe I would have had the opportunity to do this honors thesis without your continued support.

Thank you to my lab mentors, Dr. Ariel Diaz, Dr. Enrique Torre, Dr. Cynthia Martin-Jimenez, Dr. Pavel Yanev, and Dr. Diego Vesga. It was through interactions with my lab mentors that have continued to inspire my research.

To my family, my boyfriend, and my friends, thank you for supporting me and encouraging me throughout my research endeavors. I know I would not be the person I am today without you all.

# Table of Contents

Introduction1-4
Neurovascular Disorders and Neurodegenerative Disease
Plasminogen Activator System
The Neurovascular Unit. Scheme 1: Scheme of the NVU.
Connecting the PAS to the NVU and neurodegenerative diseases: Future of
Synaptogenesis
Materials and Methods
Astrocytic and Neuronal Primary Culture
Astrocytic Wound Healing Model
Western Blot for Aquaporin 4 (AQP4) Quantification
Immunocytochemistry and Imaging
Sholl Analysis vs. Fractal Analysis
Results
Figure 1: uPA treatment promotes astrocytic wound healing
Figure 2: uPA treatment induces detachment of $\beta$ -catenin from NCAD-ICD
Figure 3: Preconditioning with tPA increased Aquaporin-4 in neuronal astrocytes
Figure 4: PAI-1 increases neuronal complexity
Discussion
Scheme 2: Proposed mechanism of uPA-mediated β-catenin inducement of the WNT
pathway for astrocytic wound healing
Scheme 3: Proposed mechanism of astrocytic activation by tPA
Conclusion17

Supplemental Information	
Supplemental Figure 1	
Supplemental Figure 2	
References	

#### Introduction

## Neurovascular Disorders and Neurodegenerative Disease

Neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's Disease (AD), have a widespread worldwide impact, with the World Health Organization (WHO) noting that over 55 million people worldwide have dementia, with AD accounting for 60-70% of it.<sup>2</sup> Along with the terrible social and personal ramifications of AD, there is a large social and economic burden associated with AD. Within the United States alone, it is projected that yearly costs associated with AD will increase from \$321 billion in 2022 to over \$1 trillion in 2050, not to mention the burden on the healthcare system with the increasing patient population for long-term care.<sup>3</sup> Neurodegenerative diseases do not exist within a bubble and are associated with changes in the neurovasculature such as the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (BBB).<sup>4</sup> As there is a link between neurodegenerative diseases and neurovascular disorders, this study aims to explore a system, commonly studied in the vascular space, for its possible effect on different components of the neurovascular unit (NVU), with the hope of future applications for therapeutic development for neurovascular and neurodegenerative diseases.

## **Plasminogen Activator System**

The Plasminogen Activator System (PAS) is an enzymatic cascade that is most popularly known for its anti-clotting role in the intravascular cascade. Plasminogen is a zymogen that must be cleaved to form active plasmin, which breaks down fibrin, the main structural unit of blood clots<sup>5</sup>. The main components of the PAS of interest for this paper are the two main mammalian activators: urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA), and one of three main inhibitors: Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor - 1 (PAI-1).

uPA consists of three regions: an amino-terminal growth factor domain, a Kringle domain, and a carboxy-terminal catalytic domain.<sup>5</sup> It is expressed in an inactive single-chain protein form, pro-uPA, which is activated into a two-chain uPA.<sup>5,6</sup> uPA has been associated with angiogenesis, tumorigenesis, cell adhesion, and cell migration.<sup>7</sup> tPA consists of 5 structural domains: a fibronectin finger domain, two Kringle domains, an epidermal growth factor analog, and a serine protease domain.<sup>5</sup> It is initially expressed as a single chain but is cleaved into two chains via a positive feedback mechanism from the activation of plasmin.<sup>8</sup> tPA is currently the gold standard of treatment for ischemic stroke, within 3.5 hours of onset.<sup>9</sup> PAI-1 is a single-chain glycoprotein of 45 to 50 - kDa and can interact with uPA, uPA and receptor complexes, and tPA.<sup>10</sup> These interactions modulate signal transduction pathways as PAI-1 is localized to the cell surface.<sup>11</sup> Additionally, PAI-1 induces microglial migration.<sup>12</sup>

Although the PAS has been commonly known for its peripheral proteolytic activity in the intravascular space, in the past two decades there has been a growing area of research in considering the role of the PAS in the central nervous system (CNS).<sup>5</sup>

#### The Neurovascular Unit

The neurovascular unit (NVU) is a concept that was first described in 2001, and describes the maintenance of cerebrovascular integrity and hemostasis through a cohesive system of neurons, astrocytes, microglia, endothelial cells, and the extracellular matrix.<sup>13,14</sup> This paper specifically focuses on the effect of the PAS on neuronal and astrocytic components of the NVU.



Scheme 1: Scheme of the Neurovascular Unit (NVU). Created in BioRender.com.<sup>15</sup>

## Connecting the PAS to the NVU and neurodegenerative diseases

Neurodegenerative diseases, such as AD, are characterized by the loss of synaptic contacts via mechanisms that are still trying to be elucidated.<sup>16</sup> The formation of new synapses is known as synaptogenesis and it is mediated by other support cells such as astrocytes as highlighted by concepts such as the tripartite synapse.<sup>17,18</sup> Although the work presented here does not investigate synaptogenesis, elucidating the effect of the PAS on astrocytic neuronal components of the NVU could be integral research in neuro-repair. Astrocytes can modulate the strength and rate of synapse communication, play a role in synapse formation, and release different neurotrophic factors, such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), in its normal, activated, and reactive states.<sup>19</sup> Previous work has shown that uPA<sup>20</sup> and tPA<sup>21</sup> induce astrocytic activation, and thus based on this knowledge, the aim is to investigate the role of uPA in astrocytic wound healing, the role of tPA on Aquaporin-4 (AQP4), a water channel associated with astrocytic motility<sup>22</sup>, expression in astrocytes, and PAI-1's effect on neuronal complexity. Based on this knowledge

and previous work regarding the PAS in the CNS, it is hypothesized that uPA would increase astrocytic wound healing and tPA would increase AQP4 expression, and PAI-1 would increase neuronal complexity.

## **Materials and Methods**

#### 1. Astrocytic and Neuronal Primary Culture

All animal care was conducted by the lab managers, Dr. Enrique Torre and Zakia Sathi, in accordance with the approved protocol by the Institutional Animal Care & Use Committee (IACUC) of Emory University, Atlanta, GA. All mice used were C57BL/6J mice. Astrocytes (WT, uPA<sup>-/-</sup>) were cultured from 1-day-old mice and then seeded on glass coverslips. As per lab protocol, primary cultures were handled by post-doctoral students. The following procedure was conducted by post-doctoral fellow, Dr. Ariel Diaz, as described in his protocol<sup>23,24</sup>. In brief cerebral cortices from the mice were harvested and placed in balanced Hank's salt solution supplemented with 1000 units/ml penicillin (Gibco, Thermofisher; Grand Island, NY; 15140-122), 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Gibco, Thermofisher; Grand Island, NY; 15140-122), and 10 mM HEPES.<sup>24</sup> After trypsinization and trituration, the tissue was resuspended and passed through a 70 mm pore filter and cultured on poly-L-lysine (MillPore; Burlington, MA; P1399) surfaces in T75 flasks for 10-15 days before use in individual experiments.<sup>24</sup> Neuronal cultures (using embryonic day 16 mice) followed the same methods with a difference in solution.<sup>20</sup> Cerebral cortices for neuronal cultures were incubated in 0.02% DNase in trypsin (Quality Biological; Gaithersburg, MD; 118-093-721) at 37°C for 15 minutes prior to trituration. Prior to plating, the triturated tissue was resuspended in 2 mM L-glutamine in GS21-supplemented neurobasal medium.<sup>20</sup>

## 2. Astrocytic Wound Healing Model

Astrocytes from primary cultures (as described above), were plated onto glass coverslips with poly-L-lysine (Millipore; Burlington, MA, P1399) and were cultured until confluent in supplemented media. A sterile 20  $\mu$ L pipette tip was used to inflict a scratch wound on the confluent monolayer of astrocytes. After wound infliction, slides were treated with the control and 5 nM of uPA for 24 hours. This was followed using live cell microscopy over 24 hours using live cell microscopy DP80 camera using the 10X objective magnification (Olympus, Center Valley, PA), while maintained at 37°C in an incubator (Tokai Hit, Japan) atmosphere supplemented with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 21% O<sub>2</sub>, and 74% N<sub>2</sub>. Images were taken at 10X objective magnification at t=0h and t=24h of each of the samples. Area growth was quantified by drawing at 500  $\mu$ m line at the border the wound at t=0h, copying and pasting into the same XYZ coordinates for t=24h. Quantification was completed using Olympus CellSens Dimension 1.17 software, and percent growth was normalized to the control group.

## 3. Western Blot for Aquaporin 4 (AQP4) Quantification

Astrocytic cultures were treated with 5 nM of tPA for 3 hours, and then subsequently homogenized using RIPA buffer (TEKNOVA; Hollister, CA; R3792) and centrifugation at 21000g for 20 minutes at 4°C. Using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay (ThermoFisher; Grand Island, NY; 23225), equal amounts of protein were loaded onto a mini-protean TGX stain free 4-15% gel, transferred onto a 0.2  $\mu$ m, nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad; Hercules, CA; 1620112) and blocked with Odyssey Blocking Buffer (TBS) (Li-Cor; Lincoln, NE, 927-50000) for 1h. Membranes stained overnight at 4°C for APQ4 using primary antibody rabbit anti-AQP4 (1:1000) (Abcam; Cambridge, UK; Cat # ab46182) and mouse anti-B-actin (1:10000) (ThermoFisher; Grand Island, NY; H3570). Subsequently, membranes were thoroughly washed and reacted with the following secondary antibodies: IRDye 800CW donkey anti-rabbit (1:10000) (Li-Cor; Lincoln, NE; 926-32213) and IRDye 680RD donkey anti-mouse (1:10000) (Li-Cor; Lincoln, NE; 926-68072). Membranes were imaged using LI-COR Odyssey Fc reader and IR-signal was quantified and analyzed using IMAGE STUDIO 5.2. IR readings were normalized to control.

#### 4. Immunocytochemistry and Imaging

Astrocytic cultures were fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde (Electron Microscope Sciences; Hatfield, PA; 15714) in TBS for 15 minutes. Cells were permeabilized for 10 minutes using 0.1% triton and 0.5% casein in TBS-T and blocked for 1 hour using goat and donkey serum in TBS. Cells were then incubated at 4°C overnight in the primary antibody, rabbit polyclonal antibody for the intracellular domain of N-Cadherin (NCAD-ICD) (Abcam; Cambridge, MA; cat. # ab76057) (1:400) and mouse anti-β-catenin (ThermoFisher; Grand Island, NY; Cat. # A1978) (1:400), and then reacted with Alexa Fluor 594-conjugated donkey anti-mouse-IgG antibody (ThermoFisher; Grand Island, Ny; Cat. # A21203) (1:500) and goat anti-rabbit 33342 Alex Fluor 488 antibody (ThermoFisher; Grand Island, NY; Cat. # A11008) (1:5000), along with HOECHST (1:4000) stain. After thorough washing in TBS, glass coverslips were mounted with Prolong gold antifade mounting media (ThermoFisher; Grand Island, NY; P36930). Slides were imaged using the Fluoview FV10i automated confocal laser-scanning microscope (Olympus, Center Valley, PA) at 60X lens NA 1.35 oil, pinhole 1UA (50mm), resolution 1024 x 1024 pixels and 16 bit.

The same processes were repeated for neuronal cultures, but different primary and secondary antibodies were used. A mouse anti-MAP2 monoclonal primary antibody (Sigma-Aldrich; St. Louis, MO; M9942) (1:1000) along with Fluorescent Dye 488-1 Phalloidin (Abnova; Jhongli, Taiwan; U0281) was used to mark the dendritic components of the neuron.

Images were taken using fluorescence microscopy at 20x magnification using (Olympus Microscope BX51).

## 5. Sholl Analysis vs. Fractal Analysis

Image J PlugIns "Sholl Analysis" and "Fractal Analysis" were used to quantify neuronal complexity. The basis of Sholl analysis is to determine dendritic arborization by counting the number of intersections of concentric circles at intervals from the fixed distance from the neuron soma. A unified basis of 50 µm from the center of the neuronal soma was determined based on control analysis. Concentric circles ranged every 10 µm starting from 50 µm to 200 µm away from the cell soma. A thresholding parameter was used to deal with the heterogenous neuronal population that was used for this experiment: neurons with less than three main dendritic branches were excluded from the analyses.. Fractal analysis, which quantifies the 3D area of the neuron by assigning a pixel to each part of the neuron.

## 7. Statistical Analysis

Astrocytic wound healing quantification: Wound healing of  $uPA^{-/-}$  treatment was normalized as percentages to the WT untreated group. An unpaired student's t-test was conducted for statistical significance. In comparing control and uPA treatment to both genotypes (WT and  $uPA^{-/-}$ ) a two-way ANOVA with Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test was conducted. The threshold as p < 0.05 was used for both analyses.

Quantification of Beta-Catenin Localization: Mander's coefficient was used as the metric for quantifying colocalization between beta-catenin and the intracellular domain of N-Cadherin. An unpaired student's t-test was conducted for statistical significance with the threshold as p < 0.05 for statistical significance.

tPA expression in astrocytes: Western blot analysis was conducted using IR signaling. All values were normalized to  $\beta$ -actin and then subsequently normalized to the control. A two-tailed student's t-test was conducted for statistical significance with the threshold as p < 0.05 for statistical significance.

Neuronal complexity: A two-tailed, unpaired student's t-test was conducted for statistical significance with the threshold as p < 0.05 for statistical significance.

Levene and Shapiro-Wilk tests were completed to test the normal distributions of all data prior to all statistical analyses.

Results



**Figure 1: uPA treatment promotes astrocytic wound healing.** (A) Representative image of the process of quantifying wound healing 24h post wound infliction. (B) Astrocytic growth of uPA<sup>-/-</sup> (n=10) astrocytes shown as percent of WT (n=8) astrocytes. Statistical analysis: unpaired, student's t-test (C) Astrocytic growth following treatment with vehicle (control) [WT, n=15; uPA<sup>-/-</sup>, n=19] or 5 nM uPA [ WT: n=15, uPA<sup>-/-</sup>: n=19] post 24 hours of mechanical injury. Statistical analysis: Two-way ANOVA with Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test. Modified from Diaz et al., 2021.<sup>24</sup>

To investigate the effects of uPA on astrocytes, a wound-healing model was used. After growing a monolayer of astrocytes, a mechanical wound was inflicted to investigate the wound-healing possibilities of astrocytes. A 500  $\mu$ m was drawn at t=0 and copied to the same

XYZ coordinates after 24h of growth, as seen in panel 1A. First uPA knockout (KO) mice were used to determine if there was any possible effect of uPA on wound healing. Figure 1B shows that uPA<sup>-/-</sup> had decreased astrocytic growth (73.47±16.38%, mean±s.d., P=0.002, two-tailed, student's t-test) as compared to WT genotype. To test if this effect is dependent on whether uPA is endogenous or exogenous, both genotypes were treated with recombinant uPA. Treatment with rt 5 nM uPA resulted in increased astrocytic growth in both genotype groups (WT/uPA<sup>-/-</sup>) (Wt: 100% ± 18.56 %; Wt+uPA: 130.3% ± 27.82%; uPA<sup>-/-</sup>: 67.21% ± 13.79%; uPA<sup>-/-</sup> + uPA: 93.72% ± 23.54%; mean±s.d.). It is important to note that the WT group had more astrocytic growth in both control and treatment groups as compared to its uPA<sup>-/-</sup> counterparts, suggesting the dual effect of both endogenous and rt uPA.



**Figure 2: uPA treatment induces detachment of**  $\beta$ **-catenin from NCAD-ICD.** (A) Representative confocal images of co-localization of  $\beta$ -catenin and NCAD-ICD in astrocytic membranes. Panels a,c controls. Panels b,d 30 min 5 nm uPA treatment. (B) Quantification of colocalization per 10 µm of membrane, control (n= 39) vs 5 nm uPA treatment (n=43). Statistical test: unpaired, student's t-test. Modified from Diaz et al., 2021.<sup>24</sup>

As previous research suggested the involvement of the Wnt pathway, the effect of uPA on the intracellular localization of both  $\beta$ -catenin and the intracellular domain of N-Cadherin

(NCAD-ICD) was investigated. An uninjured monolayer of cultured astrocytes was treated with 5 nM of uPA for 30 minutes, and then subsequently stained and imaged for co-localization of  $\beta$ -catenin and NCAD-ICD to see changes in intracellular localization, specifically in regards to changes in membrane localization. As seen in figure 2B, treatment of WT monolayer of astrocytes resulted in decreased colocalization of  $\beta$ -catenin and NCAD-ICD, suggesting a change in  $\beta$ -catenin localization. As seen in figure 2A,  $\beta$ -Catenin was stained red, NCAD-ICD green, with the overlap shown in yellow. The Mander's coefficient was used as a metric of colocalization of fluorescence with mean mander's coefficient of uPA treatment 0.4981 ± 0.2033; mean ± s.d.) being lower than control (0.6228 ± 0.1379; mean ± s.d.).





**Figure 3: Preconditioning with tPA increased Aquaporin-4 in neuronal astrocytes** (A) Representative image of western blot (WB) stained for AQP4 and B-actin. (B) Intensity of WB band shown as tPA treatment group (n=5) thresholded to control (n=5). Statistical Test: Two-tailed student's t-test. Modified from Diaz et al., 2022.<sup>21</sup>

To consider the PAS in the CNS, it was important to also consider the effect of 5 nM tPA for 3 hours, another activator, on astrocytes. Previous research in the laboratory showed that tPA induced astrocytic activation and modulated the permeability of the BBB.<sup>21</sup> To explore the mechanism by which this modulation may happen, the effect of tPA on Aquaporin-4 (AQP4), a known regulator of water and permeability in the NVU was studied. It was shown that preconditioning astrocytes increased AQP4 expression as normalized to the control (intensity of tPA treated 1.228  $\pm$  0.1445, mean  $\pm$  s.d., P=0.008, unpaired student's t-test, n=5). Following 5nM conditioning treatment with tPA for three hours before injury shows increased aquaporin 4 expression in neuronal astrocytes. Western Blot analysis of AQP4 (34 kD) was controlled to B-actin (42 kD) for all cells. This suggests that the pretreatment of tPA increased the expression of AQP4 in neuronal astrocytes.

#### **PAI-1 on Neuronal Complexity**



**Figure 4: PAI-1 increases neuronal complexity** (A) Representative Image of Sholl Analysis. (B) Sholl analysis of intersections at various distances from the neuron's soma center from 50 to 200 μm. n=4. Statistical analysis: unpaired, student t-test.

In investigating the effect of the PAS in the CNS, neurons must be studied. It has been shown that morphogenesis of neurons plays an integral part in neuronal communication, thus has been studied in regard to neurodegenerative disorders.<sup>25</sup> Previous work has shown that PAI-1

modulates the effect of uPA on astrocytes, and thus the question remains whether this is true for the neuronal component as well.<sup>20</sup> Low-density neuronal cultures were used to determine the effect of PAI on neuronal complexity, specifically dendritic components. The dendrites were stained with MAP2 and checked using a phalloidin stain for manual thresholding. These low-density cultures were treated with 10 nM PAI-1 for 24 hrs and analyzed via Sholl analysis. The basis of Sholl analysis is measuring the dendritic arborization by counting the number of intersections with concentric circles at fixed distances (see figure 5A). As seen in figure 5B, there was increased neuronal complexity by Sholl analysis at multiple distances from the neuron soma. Specifically, there was an increase in intersections at 60 and 100-200  $\mu$ m from the soma with PAI-1 treatment (100  $\mu$ m: 6.90  $\pm$  0.55 intersections vs 8.24  $\pm$  0.66 intersections , n=4, p=0.02; 200  $\mu$ m: 6.11  $\pm$  0.80 intersections vs 9.17  $\pm$  1.80 intersections, n=4, p= 0.02). This was corroborated by fractal analysis done by Dr. Cynthia Martin, seen in supplemental information (see SI, Supplemental Figure 1).

## Discussion

The PAS has only started to be studied in CNS in the past two decades.<sup>5</sup> The purpose of this investigation is to study the PAS effect in the CNS considering the NVU and tripartite synapse as the structural framework.

In considering astrocytic-mediated neuro-repair, it is imperative to consider the effect of activators on astrocytes, especially considering the vast literature regarding the "double-edged" nature of astrocytic activation.<sup>19</sup> Both uPA and tPA have effects on astrocytes in promoting astrocytic activation in absence of pathogenesis.<sup>20,21</sup> Here, it is shown that uPA has wound-healing properties after a mechanical injury. Not only did uPA treatment increase the area of healing, but uPA<sup>-/-</sup> showed decreased healing as compared to the treated WT genotype,

highlighting the role of both endogenous and exogenous uPA. Work continued by others in the lab has shown that this astrocytic wound healing is via astrocytic migration, rather than astrocytic proliferation.<sup>24</sup>

Reactive astrocytes, as caused by pathological changes, are found in many neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's Disease, and prolonged astrocytic reactivity has been associated with the formation of glial scars and fibrosis that prevents axonal regeneration.<sup>26–28</sup> Despite this, astrocytic reactivity has also been associated with supporting axonal growth and directionality, and multiple ischemic stroke drugs work to activate and inhibit pathways that would balance the protective and destructive functions of reactive astrocytes.<sup>19</sup> It is important to note that there is a difference between astrocytic reactivity and astrocytic activation; astrocytic reactivity is in the presence of a pathological state.<sup>29</sup> Thus, it is incredibly valuable and important to be able to identify mechanisms in which astrocytic activation can be induced in absence of pathological change, and thus the inducement of astrocytic migration by uPA is integral.

The mechanism that was considered was the WNT pathway as it is known to be integral in cell migration and neural patterning.<sup>30</sup> uPA was shown to increase the detachment of  $\beta$ -catenin from the intracellular domain of N-Cadherin, suggesting translocation or degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Other work in the laboratory has shown that this detached  $\beta$ -catenin was not degraded by actually being promoted to have a nuclear translocation.<sup>24</sup> It is suggested that the Wingless pathway is triggered by uPA binding to uPAR as supported by the lab data that there is phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin at the known important Tyr654 residue. It is known that phosphorylation at Tyr654 targets  $\beta$ -catenin for nuclear translocation, and phosphorylation at other sites by GSK-3 differently targets  $\beta$ -catenin for proteasomal degradation via ubiquitination.<sup>30,31</sup> Additionally, other work in the lab has shown that uPA/uPAR binding also phosphorylated LRP6, which then abrogated GSK-3, preventing it from tagging  $\beta$ -catenin for degradation. The translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin to the nucleus has been associated with increased wound healing, as seen with the results of this paper.<sup>24</sup>



Scheme 2: Proposed mechanism of uPA-mediated  $\beta$ -catenin inducement of the WNT pathway for astrocytic wound healing. Adapted from Diaz et al., 2021.<sup>21</sup>

tPA, the other Plasminogen Activator, was also studied in regard to astrocytic activation. AQP4 became a question of interest due to other work highlighting the role of AQP4 in astrocytic motility.<sup>22</sup> tPA was shown to not only increase the production of AQP4 in astrocytes, but further work also showed the increase in the intracellular localization of AQP4 in the astrocytic end feet (see SI, Supplemental Figure 2). This served as the basis for others in the lab to determine the in-vivo effect of this, and a preconditioning effect on the blood-brain barrier was seen, with increased cerebral edema in tPA knockouts.<sup>21</sup> The proposed mechanism is the activation of the TNF-a pathway in which TNF-a released by activated astrocytes (scheme 3, panel A) induce astrocytic activation with the effect of increased production of AQP4 (scheme 3, panel B), protecting the neurons from the deleterious effects of cerebral ischemia by maintaining the BBB (scheme 3, panel C). This modulation of the BBB with increased AQP4 is integral due to the growing body of evidence of the link between neurodegenerative diseases, such as AD, and cerebrovascular degeneration.<sup>32</sup>



Scheme 3: Proposed mechanism of astrocytic activation by tPA. Adapted from Diaz et al., 2022.<sup>21</sup>

In considering the effect of PAS on neuro-repair, an integral part is the neurons themselves. Thus, the effect of PAI-1 on neurons was investigated in line with a growing body of evidence suggesting the importance of this. The morphological complexity of the neurons, specifically the dendritic component, was used as a proxy for the potential of future investigation in synaptogenesis. The number and structure of dendritic spines, otherwise known as dendritic arborization, is important for the transmission of signals and for processes such as long-term potentiation<sup>33</sup>. Sholl analysis suggests an increase in the morphological complexity of the neurons, with statistically significant increases in the intersections from 100 to 200 µm from the

center of the neuronal soma. This bears the question of why there was no noted difference in the dendritic arborization at distances 50 to 100 µm from the center of the soma. This could be attributed to the differential soma sizes of the neurons but also could be due to the limitations of the Sholl analysis itself. Sholl analysis counts the number of branches at different points from the soma center, thus serving as a quantified metric for dendritic branching geometry.<sup>34</sup> However, this does not account for the more local changes (i.e. changes between those checkpoints; for this study determined to be every 10 µm from 50 to 200 µm from the neuronal soma), and thus may not fully capture the effect of PAI-1 on increasing morphological complexity of neurons.<sup>35</sup> It is also important to note that the basis of this particular Sholl analysis was conducted under the assumption of homogeneity across samples regarding the heterogeneity of the neuronal population. Aware of the criticism of Sholl analysis<sup>36</sup>, another method of analysis called Fractal Analysis was also conducted by Dr. Cynthia Martin using the same data set. This corroborated the result obtained via Sholl analysis as fractal analysis also showed a statistically significant increase in neuronal complexity following 24-hour treatment of 10 nM PAI-1. This further suggests that PAI-1 increased the dendritic arborization of neurons.

Work presented in this paper shows the effect of uPA and tPA on astrocytes (wound healing potential of uPA on astrocytic growth and the modulation of the NVU with the increase of AQP4 in tPA) and the effect of PAI-1 on neuronal complexity. In order to have a greater understanding of the components of the PAS on the NVU as a whole, it would be beneficial to study the effect of complexes, as clinical data has shown differential pharmacokinetics of complexes.<sup>37</sup> Although investigating the complexes of activators and inhibitors may sound counterintuitive, it further highlights the role of the PAS in the CNS in hopes to shed light on

mechanisms to hijack the possible therapeutic potential for neurovascular and neurodegenerative diseases.

#### Conclusions

The work presented here supports the growing body of literature of the role of the PAS in the CNS. uPA is shown to induce astrocytic wound healing via a suggested activation of the  $\beta$ -catenin/WNT pathway. tPA is shown to increase AQP4 expression in the astrocytic endfeet, serving as the basis of proposing the TNF- $\alpha$  mediated modulation of the BBB, further linking the role of cerebrovasculature and astrocytic activation. PAI-1 was shown to increase dendritic neuronal complexity. By studying the PAS in both neuronal and astrocytic components of the NVU, the PAS shows potential for druggable targets for neurovascular and neurodegenerative diseases.

## **Supplemental Information**



**Supplemental Figure 1: Fractal Analysis for Neuronal Complexity by Dr. Cynthia Martin-Jimenez.** (A) Representative images of fractal analysis for both control and PAI-1 24 hour treatment. (B) Fractal dimension criterion for both control and PAI-1 treated neurons.



**Supplemental Figure 2: Increased cellular localization of AQP4 on astrocytic end feet by Dr. Ariel Diaz.** (A) Representative images of confocal immunohistochemistry (B) Quantification of AQP-4 in astrocytic end-feet for control and compared to 5 nm tPA treatment. n=14 cells from three different animal groups for both control and tPA treatment. Adapted from Diaz et al., 2021.<sup>21</sup>

## References

- (1) 2023 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. *Alzheimers Dement.* **2023**, alz.13016. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.13016.
- (2) *Dementia*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia (accessed 2023-03-22).
- (3) Skaria, A. The Economic and Societal Burden of Alzheimer Disease: Managed Care Considerations. **2022**, *28*.
- (4) Zlokovic, B. V. Neurovascular Pathways to Neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's Disease and Other Disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2011, *12* (12), 723–738. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3114.
- (5) Yepes, M.; Woo, Y.; Martin-Jimenez, C. Plasminogen Activators in Neurovascular and Neurodegenerative Disorders. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2021**, 22 (9), 4380. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22094380.
- (6) Vincenza Carriero, M.; Franco, P.; Vocca, I.; Alfano, D.; Longanesi-Cattani, I.; Bifulco, K.; Mancini, A.; Caputi, M.; Stoppelli, M. P. Structure, Function and Antagonists of Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator. *Front. Biosci. Landmark Ed.* **2009**, *14* (10), 3782–3794. https://doi.org/10.2741/3488.
- (7) Mahmood, N.; Mihalcioiu, C.; Rabbani, S. A. Multifaceted Role of the Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator (UPA) and Its Receptor (UPAR): Diagnostic, Prognostic, and Therapeutic Applications. *Front. Oncol.* **2018**, *8*.
- (8) Collen, D.; Lijnen, H. R. The Tissue-Type Plasminogen Activator Story. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* **2009**, *29* (8), 1151–1155. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179655.
- (9) Cheng, N. T.; Kim, A. S. Intravenous Thrombolysis for Acute Ischemic Stroke Within 3 Hours Versus Between 3 and 4.5 Hours of Symptom Onset. *The Neurohospitalist* **2015**, *5* (3), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941874415583116.
- (10) Ehrlich, H. J.; Gebbink, R. K.; Keijer, J.; Pannekoek, H. Elucidation of Structural Requirements on Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor 1 for Binding to Heparin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1992**, 267 (16), 11606–11611.
- (11)Sillen, M.; Declerck, P. J. A Narrative Review on Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 and Its (Patho)Physiological Role: To Target or Not to Target? *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2021**, *22* (5), 2721. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22052721.
- (12) Jeon, H.; Kim, J.-H.; Kim, J.-H.; Lee, W.-H.; Lee, M.-S.; Suk, K. Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor Type 1 Regulates Microglial Motility and Phagocytic Activity. *J. Neuroinflammation* **2012**, 9, 149. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-9-149.
- (13) Lo, E. H.; Dalkara, T.; Moskowitz, M. A. Mechanisms, Challenges and Opportunities in Stroke. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **2003**, *4* (5), 399–415. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1106.
- (14) Iadecola, C. The Neurovascular Unit Coming of Age: A Journey through Neurovascular Coupling in Health and Disease. *Neuron* **2017**, *96* (1), 17–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.07.030.
- (15) BioRender. https://app.biorender.com/ (accessed 2023-03-24).
- (16) Perdigão, C.; Barata, M. A.; Araújo, M. N.; Mirfakhar, F. S.; Castanheira, J.; Guimas Almeida, C. Intracellular Trafficking Mechanisms of Synaptic Dysfunction in Alzheimer's Disease. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* **2020**, *14*, 72. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2020.00072.
- (17) Chung, W.-S.; Allen, N. J.; Eroglu, C. Astrocytes Control Synapse Formation, Function, and Elimination. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **2015**, 7 (9), a020370. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a020370.
- (18) Araque, A.; Parpura, V.; Sanzgiri, R. P.; Haydon, P. G. Tripartite Synapses: Glia, the Unacknowledged Partner. *Trends Neurosci.* **1999**, *22* (5), 208–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-2236(98)01349-6.
- (19) Han, G.; Song, L.; Ding, Z.; Wang, Q.; Yan, Y.; Huang, J.; Ma, C. The Important

Double-Edged Role of Astrocytes in Neurovascular Unit After Ischemic Stroke. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* **2022**, *14*, 833431. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2022.833431.

- (20) Diaz, A.; Merino, P.; Manrique, L. G.; Ospina, J. P.; Cheng, L.; Wu, F.; Jeanneret, V.; Yepes, M. A Cross Talk between Neuronal Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator (UPA) and Astrocytic UPA Receptor (UPAR) Promotes Astrocytic Activation and Synaptic Recovery in the Ischemic Brain. *J. Neurosci.* **2017**, *37* (43), 10310–10322. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1630-17.2017.
- (21) Tissue-type plasminogen activator induces TNF-α-mediated preconditioning of the blood-brain barrier - Ariel Diaz, Yena Woo, Cynthia Martin-Jimenez, Paola Merino, Enrique Torre, Manuel Yepes, 2022.

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0271678X211060395 (accessed 2023-03-23).

- (22) Ciappelloni, S.; Bouchet, D.; Dubourdieu, N.; Boué-Grabot, E.; Kellermayer, B.; Manso, C.; Marignier, R.; Oliet, S. H. R.; Tourdias, T.; Groc, L. Aquaporin-4 Surface Trafficking Regulates Astrocytic Process Motility and Synaptic Activity in Health and Autoimmune Disease. *Cell Rep.* **2019**, *27* (13), 3860-3872.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.05.097.
- (23) Diaz, A.; Merino, P.; Manrique, L. G.; Cheng, L.; Yepes, M. Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator (UPA) Protects the Tripartite Synapse in the Ischemic Brain via Ezrin-Mediated Formation of Peripheral Astrocytic Processes. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* **2019**, *39* (11), 2157–2171. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X18783653.
- (24) Diaz, A.; Martin-Jimenez, C.; Xu, Y.; Merino, P.; Woo, Y.; Torre, E.; Yepes, M. Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator-Mediated Crosstalk between N-Cadherin and β-Catenin Promotes Wound Healing. *J. Cell Sci.* **2021**, *134* (11), jcs255919. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.255919.
- (25) Kulkarni, V. A.; Firestein, B. L. The Dendritic Tree and Brain Disorders. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* **2012**, *50* (1), 10–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2012.03.005.
- (26) Fehlberg, C. R.; Lee, J. K. Fibrosis in the Central Nervous System: From the Meninges to the Vasculature. *Cell Tissue Res.* **2022**, *387* (3), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-021-03491-y.
- (27) D'Ambrosi, N.; Apolloni, S. Fibrotic Scar in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **2020**, *11*, 1394. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01394.
- (28) Zhang, D.; Hu, X.; Qian, L.; O'Callaghan, J. P.; Hong, J.-S. Astrogliosis in CNS Pathologies: Is There A Role for Microglia? *Mol. Neurobiol.* **2010**, *41* (2–3), 232–241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-010-8098-4.
- (29) Escartin, C.; Galea, E.; Lakatos, A.; O'Callaghan, J. P.; Petzold, G. C.; Serrano-Pozo, A.; Steinhäuser, C.; Volterra, A.; Carmignoto, G.; Agarwal, A.; Allen, N. J.; Araque, A.; Barbeito, L.; Barzilai, A.; Bergles, D. E.; Bonvento, G.; Butt, A. M.; Chen, W.-T.; Cohen-Salmon, M.; Cunningham, C.; Deneen, B.; De Strooper, B.; Díaz-Castro, B.; Farina, C.; Freeman, M.; Gallo, V.; Goldman, J. E.; Goldman, S. A.; Götz, M.; Gutiérrez, A.; Haydon, P. G.; Heiland, D. H.; Hol, E. M.; Holt, M. G.; lino, M.; Kastanenka, K. V.; Kettenmann, H.; Khakh, B. S.; Koizumi, S.; Lee, C. J.; Liddelow, S. A.; MacVicar, B. A.; Magistretti, P.; Messing, A.; Mishra, A.; Molofsky, A. V.; Murai, K. K.; Norris, C. M.; Okada, S.; Oliet, S. H. R.; Oliveira, J. F.; Panatier, A.; Parpura, V.; Pekna, M.; Pekny, M.; Pellerin, L.; Perea, G.; Pérez-Nievas, B. G.; Pfrieger, F. W.; Poskanzer, K. E.; Quintana, F. J.; Ransohoff, R. M.; Riquelme-Perez, M.; Robel, S.; Rose, C. R.; Rothstein, J. D.; Rouach, N.; Rowitch, D. H.; Semyanov, A.; Sirko, S.; Sontheimer, H.; Swanson, R. A.; Vitorica, J.; Wanner, I.-B.; Wood, L. B.; Wu, J.; Zheng, B.; Zimmer, E. R.; Zorec, R.; Sofroniew, M. V.; Verkhratsky, A. Reactive Astrocyte Nomenclature, Definitions, and Future Directions. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2021, *24* (3), 312–325. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-00783-4.
- (30) Komiya, Y.; Habas, R. Wnt Signal Transduction Pathways. *Organogenesis* **2008**, *4* (2), 68–75.

- (31) Coluccia, A. M. L.; Vacca, A.; Duñach, M.; Mologni, L.; Redaelli, S.; Bustos, V. H.; Benati, D.; Pinna, L. A.; Gambacorti-Passerini, C. Bcr-Abl Stabilizes β-Catenin in Chronic Myeloid Leukemia through Its Tyrosine Phosphorylation. *EMBO J.* 2007, 26 (5), 1456–1466. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601485.
- (32) Kalaria, R. N. The Role of Cerebral Ischemia in Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* **2000**, *21* (2), 321–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-4580(00)00125-1.
- (33) Eilers, J.; Konnerth, A. Dendritic Signal Integration. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* **1997**, 7 (3), 385–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(97)80067-0.
- (34) Caserta, F.; Eldred, W. D.; Fernandez, E.; Hausman, R. E.; Stanford, L. R.; Bulderev, S. V.; Schwarzer, S.; Stanley, H. E. Determination of Fractal Dimension of Physiologically Characterized Neurons in Two and Three Dimensions. *J. Neurosci. Methods* **1995**, *56* (2), 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0270(94)00115-W.
- (35) O'Neill, K.; Akum, B.; Dhawan, S.; Kwon, M.; Langhammer, C.; Firestein, B. Assessing Effects on Dendritic Arborization Using Novel Sholl Analyses. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* **2015**, 9.
- (36) Binley, K. E.; Ng, W. S.; Tribble, J. R.; Song, B.; Morgan, J. E. Sholl Analysis: A Quantitative Comparison of Semi-Automated Methods. *J. Neurosci. Methods* **2014**, 225, 65–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.01.017.
- (37) Chandler, W. L.; Alessi, M. C.; Aillaud, M. F.; Henderson, P.; Vague, P.; Juhan-Vague, I. Clearance of Tissue Plasminogen Activator (TPA) and TPA/Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor Type 1 (PAI-1) Complex. *Circulation* **1997**, *96* (3), 761–768. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.96.3.761.